IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC 07-648

FRED ANDERSON, JR.,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARIA D. CHAMBERLIN Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 664251 MARIE-LOUISE SAMUELS PARMER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0005584 NATHANIEL E. PLUCKER Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0862061 Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region 3801 Corporex Park Dr., Suite 210 Tampa, FL 33619 (813)740-3544

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On March 20, 1999, Fred Anderson was arrested and was subsequently charged in a five count indictment with Burglary of a Structure, Grand Theft of a Firearm, Armed Robbery, Attempted First Degree Murder, and First Degree Murder. TR Vol I, p. 6. The Public Defender of the Fifth Judicial Circuit was appointed on March 21, 1999. TR Vol I, p. 5. On April 1, 1999, William H. Stone of the public defender's office filed a written plea of not guilty, and a notice of discovery. TR Vol I, p. 8. Clinton Doud, also of the public defender's office at that time, joined Mr. Stone as second chair approximately four or five months after Mr. Anderson's arrest. ROA Vol. X, p. 1736, 1857.

Mr. Anderson's trial began on September 25, 2000 and concluded on October 3, 2000. The penalty phase began on October 5, 2000 and concluded on the same day. The jury recommended death by a vote of 12-0. The Spencer Hearing took place on December 8, 2000, and the trial court sentenced Mr. Anderson to death on January 11, 2001. The trial court found the following aggravators: 1)CCP; 2)Pecuniary gain; 3) Previous conviction of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation; 4)Prior violent felony (contemporaneous attempted first degree murder of Marishia Scott). The defense only argued for the catchall

statutory mitigator and the trial court found the following non statutory mitigation: 1) Remorse for his conduct (moderate weight); 2) Cooperation (some weight); 3) The court consolidated strong religious faith, active in his church, and active in community churches (substantial weight); 4)The court consolidated past achievements and constructive involvement, contributions to his community and society through exemplary work, care for his family and community, well liked in his community, sympathetic and thoughtful of people (moderate weight); 5)Loving relationship with family (little weight); 6) Employment history (little weight); 7) The court consolidated potential for rehabilitation and skills to be productive in prison (little weight); 8)No prior history of violence (substantial weight); 9)Appropriate courtroom demeanor (little weight); 10) Willingness to plead (little weight). This Court affirmed the conviction and sentence of death. Anderson v. State, 863 So.2d 169 (Fla. 2003).

Mr. Anderson timely filed his motion for postconviction relief on March 18, 2005. A Case Management Conference was held on August 2, 2005. The postconviction court entered an order on September 28, 2005 granting an evidentiary hearing on all claims designated by Mr. Anderson and reserved ruling as to the final cumulative error claim. ROA Vol.II, p. 368. On December 19, 2005, Mr. Anderson filed a motion to amend his 3.851 and an

amended 3.851 including a shackling claim. ROA Vol. II, p. 380. The State filed a written response objecting to the motion for leave to amend on or about January 17, 2006. ROA Vol. III, p. 438. The postconviction court granted Mr. Anderson leave to amend on January 20, 2006. ROA Vol. III, p. 467.

On December 29, 2005, Mr. Anderson filed a motion to interview jurors based on the shackling claim. ROA Vol. III, p. 422. The State filed its response, objecting to the motion, on or about January 17, 2006. ROA Vol. III, p. 445. The motion was denied on January 20, 2006 after a hearing on January 18, 2006. ROA Vol. III, p. 465; ROA Vol. VIII, p. 1445-1486.

The evidentiary hearing began on January 23, 2006 and concluded on January 25, 2006. Written closings were subsequently filed by both parties and on January 24, 2007, the postconviction court entered an order denying relief. ROA Vol. V, p. 836. A motion for rehearing was timely filed on February 7, 2007. ROA Vol. V, p.870. The motion for rehearing was denied on February 28, 2007. ROA Vol. V, p. 879. A Notice of Appeal was timely filed on March 29, 2007. ROA Vol. V, p. 881.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Testimony and evidence admitted at the postconviction hearing established the following facts. Mr. Anderson presented the testimony of Dr. Villalba, who is a board certified forensic psychiatrist, a board certified child and adolescent

psychiatrist, and a board certified adult psychiatrist. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1495. The state stipulated to Dr. Villalba's qualifications. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1494. In forming his opinion, Dr. Villalba reviewed videotapes of Mr. Anderson's statements to law enforcement, reviewed Dr. McMahon's records, conducted a four hour clinical interview with Mr. Anderson, and also performed psychometric testing. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1496. Dr. Villalba testified that he achieved valid results in his psychometric testing and that there were no indications of malingering. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1538-39.

Dr. Villalba diagnosed Mr. Anderson with post-traumatic stress disorder as a result of an eight-year history of sexual abuse perpetrated by his cousin. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1497. Dr. Villalba also diagnosed Mr. Anderson with borderline personality disorder as a result of long standing substance abuse. Id. 1497. Dr. Villalba found no evidence of anti-social personality disorder. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1502.

Dr. Villalba testified about how the post traumatic stress disorder diagnosis and the borderline personality disorder interact with and affect one another. He explained:

> What happens in individuals who -- children who have long-standing history of abuse is long-standing trauma tends that а to fragment the development of personality or ego... And basically the long-standing abuse like almost taking a rock causes and throwing it at a mirror. It fragments in

all aspects of the personality. So these types of individuals tend to develop chronic, maladaptive types of behavior, which very much correlate with the posttraumatic stress disorder in terms of poor impulse control, poor judgment, problems with sense of identity, sense of self and problems with interpersonal relationships.

ROA Vol. IX, p. 1502-1503.

In describing Mr. Anderson's mental illness, Dr. Villalba testified that Mr. Anderson experiences "severe dissociated symptoms as evidenced by his inability to recall parts of the events that took place during the felony murder." ROA Vol. IX, p. 1504. Dr. Villalba went on to describe Mr. Anderson's dissociation as it occurred during the bank robbery:

> Well, he reports feeling that things were not real or he did not have - - he had almost like a dream-like state. And what's interesting that he reported the same type of dissociated type feeling during periods of being sexually abused by the cousin.

* * * * *

Basically being in a dream like or a state where you feel like things are not real or you're not real. Sometimes it could even be that other people are acting like if they were you or you're seeing yourself outside or like in a movie picture. It's very common in individuals with intense history of trauma.

ROA Vol. IX, p. 1505.

Dr. Villalba testified that Mr. Anderson met the statutory mental mitigator that the capital felony was committed while Mr. Anderson was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional

disturbance. ROA Vol. IX, p.1509. This was based on the diagnoses detailed above. Dr. Villalba also opined that it was not uncommon in a family like Mr. Anderson's to hide the sexual abuse he suffered as a child. Id.

Dr. Berland, a board certified forensic psychologist with over 27 years of experience, 20 of those dealing with primarily capital cases, also evaluated Mr. Anderson. Dr. Berland documents, reviewed reviewed numerous psychological and neuropsychological testing of Drs. McMahon and McClaren, met with Mr. Anderson on two occasions, and conducted interviews with lay witnesses Henry Banks, Latasha Harrision, Marty Kirens, Raymond Green, and Geneva Anderson, which provided corroborating information regarding Mr. Anderson's life history and behavior patterns prior to the crime. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1548. Dr. Berland's notes, prepared in outline form, were admitted into at Volume VI, p. 1074-1080 evidence and appear of the postconviction Record on Appeal.

In reviewing the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-2 (MMPI-2) of Dr. McMahon, Dr. Berland testified that Mr. Anderson's profile showed "significant delusional paranoid thinking." ROA Vol. IX, p. 1555. Dr. Berland concluded that this delusional paranoid thinking "indicates the presence of a long-standing chronic psychotic disturbance." ROA Vol. IX, p. 1556. Dr. Berland also reviewed Dr. McClaren's MMPI-2 and found

that while Mr. Anderson's delusional paranoid thinking appears less intense than when Dr. McMahon tested him, the delusional thinking is still present. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1557. He went on to explain, "With this kind of mental illness, with this psychosis, basically once you have it, you have it for life. It may wax and wane, but it doesn't go away." ROA Vol. IX, p. 1558. Dr. Berland testified that there was no evidence in either MMPI-2 profile that Mr. Anderson was attempting to fake or exaggerate his mental illness, and in fact in both profiles there appeared to be an attempt to hide or minimize his mental illness. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1555, 1557. Dr. Berland acknowledged that this was significant because given the situation that Mr. Anderson is currently in, it would be in his best interest to fake or exaggerate his symptoms. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1557.

Dr. Berland concluded that based on all of the sources he looked at, Mr. Anderson is actively psychotic and the psychosis was interfering with Mr. Anderson's ability to remember and report the events surrounding the bank robbery. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1562. Dr. Berland testified that based on Mr. Anderson's psychosis, he believed that Mr. Anderson met the statutory mitigator that at the time of the crime he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1554, 1562.

Dr. Berland testified that Mr. Anderson's "psychotic disturbance... has a panoramic effect on his thinking and decision making." ROA Vol. IX, p. 1569. As such, Dr. Berland concluded that at the time of the crime, Mr. Anderson's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. Id.

Dr. Berland testified to the effects a head-on car accident had on Mr. Anderson's brain. Dr. Berland was able to speak to witnesses who had known about the accident, which occurred when Mr. Anderson was approximately 22 years old and while he was away at college. ROA Vol. IX, p.1573. He was also able to speak to Marty Kirens, who had actually been in the car accident with Mr. Anderson. Mr. Kirens told Dr. Berland that both he and Mr. Anderson struck their heads on the windshield during the crash, causing the windshield to crack. ROA Vol. IX, p.1574. Mr. Anderson was dizzy and dazed after the crash, and both were taken to the hospital. ROA Vol. IX, p.1574. Mr. Anderson reported headaches and dizziness after the accident for some period of time. ROA Vol. IX, p.1575.

Other witnesses confirmed that Mr. Anderson's behavior changed in some ways after the accident. For example, Geneva Anderson noted that Mr. Anderson had frequent headaches and was vomiting in the days following the accident. ROA Vol. IX, p.1576. She also reported that he had memory problems for

several months after the accident. ROA Vol. IX, p.1576. Geneva told Dr. Berland that Mr. Anderson would get angry easily over little things that would not have bothered him before the accident. Id. She also acknowledged that after the accident, Mr. Anderson would often stare through people, or stare at her like he was reading her thoughts. ROA Vol. IX, p.1576, ROA Vol. VI, p. 1076. Lathsha Harrison and Henry Banks also noticed this tendency of Mr. Anderson to get easily angered over little things after college, but not before. ROA Vol. IX, p.1578. They also noted that he had depressive episodes after college, but not before. ROA Vol. IX, p.1578. Dr. Berland attributed these behaviors to the "significant brain injury" that Mr. Anderson suffered in the car accident. ROA Vol. IX, p.1577, Dr. Berland testified that the brain injury contributed 1578. to Mr. Anderson's mental illness and so in that sense it related to his extreme mental or emotional disturbance. ROA Vol. IX, However, he also testified that "it's a separate piece p.1578. of mitigating information" and "stands on its own." Id.

Dr. Berland also discussed the repeated violent acts of sexual abuse that Mr. Anderson suffered at the hands of his older cousin over a period of six or seven years. Dr. Berland opined that Mr. Anderson's mental illness is an explanation of why he hid the abuse from Dr. McMahon. He stated:

To that it is necessary to add the effects of his biological - - Mr. Anderson's biological mental illness, his psychotic disturbance, which has consistently shown itself to be of a type where he is trying to hide or minimize reports of any problems that he has, whether they be mental health problems or emotional problems from an event like this. So it would not be unexpected that he might have denied that, but this information appears to have been readily available from other sources.

ROA Vol. IX, p.1584(emphasis added). Dr. Berland spoke of the significance of the sexual abuse and how it relates to mitigation in Mr. Anderson's case.

There is a substantial and fairly longstanding literature on the long-term adverse either emotional consequences of sexual assaults on young children and/or violent assaults on young children. And this seems to fit into both categories so that it would appear to be a mitigating fact in that there's substantial literature which says that this kind of thing, especially because unresolved, it was has long-term consequences emotionally for the victim and would therefore be considered mitigating.

ROA Vol. IX, p.1582-83.

Reverend Raymond Green, Mr. Anderson's cousin, testified to repeated instances of sexual abuse that he and Mr. Anderson suffered at the hands of Michael Green, uncle to Raymond and cousin to Fred. Mr. Green's paternal grandmother and Mr. Anderson's mother are sisters. ROA Vol. X, p. 1694. Raymond witnessed the abuse on Fred on several occasions. ROA Vol. X, p. 1699. The abuse happened nearly every day. ROA Vol. X, p.

1609,1702. Michael Green would force the boys to perform oral sex and Michael Green anally raped Fred. ROA Vol. X, p. 1701. Raymond and Fred often discussed how painful the abuse was due to the size of Michael Green's penis. ROA Vol. X, p. 1703. One particularly violent incident stood out in Raymond's mind. ROA Vol. X, p. 1704. When he was eight and Fred was seven, both boys had been sent to the store with Michael Green. ROA Vol. X, p. 1705. One the way home, they knew that Michael was expecting sexual favors from them and upon realizing this, started to run. Id. Raymond was able to run faster than Fred and when he realized that Fred was not beside him, Raymond looked back and saw that Michael had tripped Fred and Fred was on the ground. 1706. Raymond kept running. ROA Vol. X, p. 1707. In a little while, Fred came home with bloody underwear and told Raymond that "Uncle Mike had done that to him." Id. Ashamed and crying, Fred asked Raymond to help him bury the bloody underwear in the backyard. ROA Vol. X, p. 1708.

Raymond testified that the abuse continued for four years, until he was nine and he and his parents moved to North Carolina. ROA Vol. X, p. 1711. For Fred, however, the abuse continued until he was thirteen or fourteen. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1580.

Dr. McMahon, a clinical psychologist, testified that she was appointed by the court at the request of the defense to

assess competency to stand trial, mental status at the time of the offense, and any possible mitigation. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1622, She interviewed Fred a total of four times. ROA Vol. IX, 1623. p. 1625. Two of the interviews were in September (less than three weeks before trial), one was on the day of trial during jury selection, (though that was for a session with a hypnotist and not a clinical interview), and the last one was in between the guilt and penalty phase to assess competency. Id. Dr. McMahon reviewed background materials but did not speak to any potential mitigation witnesses. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1625. She testified that it is her practice to rely on the attorneys to provide background information about the defendant to her. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1624.

Dr. McMahon testified that she usually has more time to interview and evaluate on capital cases and that it did concern her that she was appointed only a few weeks before trial. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1683. She testified that she had previously turned down a capital case from that same public defender's office where she felt she did not have enough time. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1683.

When asked about the sexual abuse, Dr. McMahon testified that had she known about the abuse, she certainly would have pursued it. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1640, 1643. She did ask Fred about abuse, but it was in the context of asking about parental abuse,

and she testified on cross examination that Fred could have been thinking she was only referring to parental abuse. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1660. She stated:

> A: Wait a minute. Let me say in response to that, you know, I'm asking that along with tell me about your mom and dad alone. I wasn't thinking in that sense that he had been sexually molested by a relative across the street. He may well have thought that my questions was meant narrowly, meaning had you ever been abused by anyone in your household, in other words, by your parents. If I had any idea that that had occurred, I would have pursued that differently. But I asked it with tell me just about your childhood, did you have any abuse that occurred. So I didn't expand on it.

ROA Vol. IX, p. 1660. Dr. McMahon went on to explain that while she did not see any "red flags" that would indicate posttraumatic stress disorder, she was not assessing for it. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1663. She talked about how her normal practice would be to sit down with the data and reflect on it for awhile and then go back if necessary. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1663. She did not see Mr. Anderson until September 6th, and jury selection began on September 25th. ROA Vol. IX, p. 1625.

Mr. Stone testified that he was the primary attorney for Mr. Anderson and that at the time of Mr. Anderson's trial, he had been a full time public defender for 10 years. ROA Vol. X, p. 1727. He was handling between five and ten other capital cases at the same time as Mr. Anderson's case. ROA Vol. X, p.

1728. Mr. Stone does not have any independent recollection of when he first met Mr. Anderson, but testified that J.T. Williams, his investigator, would have met him first. ROA Vol. X, p. 1729. Mr. Stone discussed the normal procedure for the first client interview between the investigator and the client and the use of a standard form "forensic questionnaire". The questionnaire appears as Defense Exhibit 4 in the postconviction ROA at pages 1098 to 1171. He stated:

Q: So that suggests the way that the assessment is performed...Is it Q and A between J.T. or you and Mr. Anderson, or did Mr. Anderson fill this out?

A: Normally, it's a question and answer interview, most of the time conducted over several conferences between Mr. Williams and the client, and then I might go back and further inquiry for purposes make of clarification if there's any uncertainty about the answers. In Mr. Anderson's particular case, Mr. Williams took it over and left it with him and asked him to fill it out, and went back later and picked it up.

ROA Vol. X, p. 1730(emphasis added). Mr. Stone offered no further explanation as to why there was a deviation from the standard procedure in Mr. Anderson's case. Mr. Stone had no recollection as to when the questionnaire was filled out, but said that it could have been within a month or even possibly a year after Mr. Anderson's arrest. ROA Vol. X, p. 1733. The form is not dated. Id. Mr. Stone did not remember discussing

the questionnaire with Fred nor discussing any of Fred's responses on the questionnaire. ROA Vol. X, p. 1734.

On part of the questionnaire it asks the respondent to list family members who died and the effects their deaths had on them. ROA Vol. X, p. 1739. Mr. Anderson listed Michael Green, his abuser, as a family member who had died. On a separate sheet, Mr. Anderson explained in great detail the effects the deaths of family members had on him, with one exception, Michael Green. ROA Vol. X, p. 1739-1741; ROA Vol. VII, p. 1146-48. On this separate sheet, Mr. Anderson offered no explanation as to the effect that Michael Green's death had on him. <u>Id</u>. This is in stark contrast to the descriptions given about the other family members. Id.

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