IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-648

FRED ANDERSON, JR.

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR LAKE COUNTY, FLORIDA

> BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY Fla. Bar No. 998818 SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114 (386)238-4990 FAX-(386)226-0457

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

To the extent Anderson argues that Caudill's testimony was of dubious probative value, completely speculative, and highly inflammatory, he relies on the four evidentiary requirements described in *Glendening* 536 So. 2d 212, 220 (Fla. 1988), v. State, for admitting an expert opinion: "(1) the opinion evidence must help the trier of fact; (2) the witness must be qualified as an expert; (3) the opinion must be capable of being applied to evidence at trial; and (4) the probative value of the opinion must not be substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Anderson argues that Caudill's testimony fails each of these requirements.

Notably, Anderson's objection at trial went primarily to Caudill's qualifications. After the trial court rejected Anderson's arguments regarding Caudill's qualifications, Anderson moved to strike Caudill's testimony on the following grounds:

[I]t is [Caudill's] opinion that is based on an assumption rather than a factual predicate, that being that his opinion is based upon the assumption that the blood stains originated from the same source, which has not been factually established. And he is also basing his opinion upon the assumption that the substance on the counter is of a cosmetic nature and that also has not been established as a factual matter. [FN14]

[FN14] Caudill testified that there was a substance on the countertop located inside that vault that appeared to be cosmetics, possibly where a victim's face struck the counter. However, he admitted that he had not tested the substance to confirm whether not it was cosmetics. Furthermore, or Caudill also admitted that he had not tested the blood stains to see if they had come from the same victim, or if there had been a commingling of the victims' blood. In Anderson's motion for a new trial, Anderson that aqain raised the claim the court improperly allowed Caudill to be qualified as an expert and that the court improperly allowed Caudill to render an opinion without having the necessary factual predicate information to support such an opinion. However, Anderson never raised the claim Caudill's testimony that was so highly speculative that it would confuse the jury or that the prejudicial impact of his testimony outweighed its relevance.

Unlike Anderson's current argument, which claims that Caudill's testimony "was of dubious probative value, completely speculative, and highly inflammatory," Anderson's objection at trial appears to have been on whether the predicate facts based had been established to allow Caudill to form his opinion, *i.e.*, whether he had tested the blood to see if it came from the same individual or whether he had tested the chemical nature of a material found on one of the vault's counter tops that appeared to be cosmetics. Therefore, Anderson's current argument is not preserved for review. See Occhicone v. State, 570 So. 2d 902, 905-06 (Fla. 1990) (stating that claim was not preserved for review where defense failed to object on specific grounds advanced on appeal); Farinas v. State, 569 So. 2d 425, 429 (Fla. 1990) (stating that "[a]bsent fundamental error, an issue will not be considered for the first time on appeal"); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 514 So. 2d 1095, 1096 (Fla. 1987) (stating that "[i]n order to preserve an issue for appellate review, the specific legal argument or ground upon which it is based must be presented to the trial court").

Even if Anderson's argument had been preserved, we would conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing Caudill to testify. Caudill's testimony was relevant with regard to the State's theory on blunt force trauma. [FN15] Moreover, Anderson's counsel rigorously cross-examined Caudill, and this cross-examination would have let the trier of fact assess the weight and credibility that should be attached to Caudill's opinion.

[FN15] Caudill's testimony provided support for the State's theory that Anderson may have struck the victims with a blunt object after they had been shot. Additionally, the testimony of the medical examiner that both victims had injuries consistent with blunt force trauma and Scott's testimony that she remembered a "black object" coming at her forehead provided evidence that the victims may have suffered some sort of blunt force trauma in addition to being shot.

Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d at 181. (emphasis added). This Court's holding is dispositive of the issue, and Anderson's attempt to cast this claim as one of ineffectiveness of counsel does not allow him to re-litigate a claim that this Court has already decided. *See*, *Zack*, *supra*.

In denying relief on this claim, the trial court held: Defendant claims the failure to properly object to the admission of blood spatter witness testimony contributed to the cumulative error rendering Counsel's performance ineffective. Defendant argues the evidence regarding head injuries to the victims after they received multiple qunshot wounds was irrelevant and cumulative.

On appeal, Defendant argued the Court :erred in admitting the testimony of the blood spatter witness. Anderson, 863 So. 2d at 179. Defendant argued the witness was not qualified and the "testimony was of dubious probative value, completely speculative, and highly inflammatory." Id. Although the Supreme Court determined Defense Counsel's argument that the testimony "was of dubious probative value, completely highly speculative, and inflammatory" was not preserved for review, the argument was considered

anyway. Id. at 180-181.

The Supreme Court stated that "[e]ven if Anderson's argument had been preserved, we would conclude that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in testify." Id. allowing Caudill to at 181. The testimony was relevant regarding the blunt force trauma theory advanced by the State at trial. Id. The Court also noted Trial Counsel "rigorously crossexamined Caudill, and this cross-examination would have let the trier of fact assess the weight and credibility that should be attached to Caudill's opinion." Id. As Defendant's claims were addressed on appeal, he should not raise the claims couched in terms of ineffective assistance of counsel in the instant Motion. See Zack v. State, 911 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 2005); Brown v. State, 755 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 2000). Further, as the Court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the testimony, Defendant cannot establish any prejudice for Counsel's failure to properly preserve the objection.

(V5, R845-846).

The trial court properly denied relief, and, to the extent that Anderson complains that the trial court did not consider the "cumulative effect of the error," that argument overlooks the fact that this Court held that there was no error at all. If there is no error, and this Court has already made that finding, there is nothing to "cumulate" in the first place. Anderson's argument has no factual basis, and does not supply a basis for relief.

Anderson's third claim is that counsel were ineffective with respect to the photographs that were admitted into evidence at trial. Anderson's claim is unclear as to whether his complaint is about the photographs of the deceased victim, or

about the photographs of the victim who survived Anderson's assault. In the trial court, Anderson complained about the introduction of photographs of the **surviving** victim, which was the claim pressed on direct appeal and decided by this Court.²⁹ After the evidentiary hearing below was concluded, the claim became that the lack of an objection to photographs of the deceased victim supported an ineffectiveness claim as to the photographs of the survivor because this Court mentioned, in a footnote, that there was no objection to the photos of the deceased. With respect to the photographs of the surviving victim, this Court resolved that claim against Anderson:

Next, Anderson argues that the trial court erred in allowing the introduction of three photographs of Scott because they were not relevant to any issue in the case and, alternatively, that any relevance was prejudicial impact outweighed by the of the photographs. During the testimony of Gene Cushing, a crime scene technician, the State sought to introduce three photographs of Scott that Cushing had taken at the hospital where Scott was being treated. Cushing took the photographs to document Marisha Scott's injuries as they appeared on March 23, 1999, three days after the robbery. When the State attempted to introduce the three photographs, Anderson's counsel, Doud and Mr. Stone, requested to approach the Mr. bench and the following proceedings took place outside the presence of the jury:

MR. DOUD: Judge, we would object to the introduction of the photographs, I believe it's [State's exhibit] PP. They show the injuries on March 23rd, they don't show the

²⁹ The collateral proceeding trial court denied relief on the claim that was before it. (V5, R846-57).

injuries as inflicted or as alleged to have been inflicted by the defendant on the date of the robbery, which would have been March 20th. These show stitching and other repairs, other rescue efforts had been performed on that victim.

THE COURT: Anything else?

MR. DOUD: That's it

MR. STONE: And cumulative and unduly prejudicial.

GROSS: They're not MR. cumulative, there's no other picture of Marisha is evidence, your Honor. And the argument that he makes to the time delay are medical and only qoes to the weight not the admissibility.

THE COURT: Objection is overruled.

Initially, there is a question of whether Anderson's objection to the introduction of the photographs at trial was sufficient to preserve his claim for review. See Pagan v. State, 830 So. 2d 792, 812 (Fla. 2002) (holding that defendant's claim that inflammatory pictures were improperly introduced was not preserved because defense counsel failed to object to their introduction). Anderson's primary objection at trial was that Scott's wounds had been repaired and stitched and thus the pictures were not reflective of how they looked on March 20, 1999. When asked if there was any other reason for the objection, Anderson's counsel responded, "And cumulative and unduly prejudicial." The State responded that the photographs were not cumulative because no pictures of Scott had been introduced, but did not respond to defense counsel's "unduly prejudicial" remark, and the trial court overruled Anderson's objection. It is difficult to find that Anderson's counsel's simple comment that the were unduly prejudicial, without pictures any elaboration or explanation, preserves his current claim, *i.e.*, that the pictures were irrelevant to any issue contested or alternatively, that their inflammatory effect outweighed any relevance.

Nevertheless, presuming that this bare objection is sufficient to preserve Anderson's claim for review, we hold Anderson's claim to be without merit.

We recently explained how trial courts should go about determining the admissibility of photographs of will victims and how this Court treat the determination of admissibility on appeal: This Court "the test for admissibility of has held that photographic evidence is relevancy rather than necessity." Where photographs are relevant, the trial court must determine whether the "gruesomeness of the portrayal is so inflammatory as to create an undue prejudice in the minds of the jury and [distract] them from a fair and unimpassioned consideration of the evidence." Admission of photographic evidence of а murder victim is within the trial court's sound discretion and is subject to an abuse of discretion review. Nonetheless, this Court standard of has "cautioned trial judges to scrutinize such evidence carefully for prejudicial effect, particularly when less graphic photos are available to illustrate the same point." . . .

During the guilt phase, this Court has "upheld the admission of photographs to explain a medical examiner's testimony, to show the manner of death, the location of wounds, and the identity of the victim." Moreover, this Court has considered the trial court's preliminary screening as a factor weighing in favor of admissibility.

Philmore v. State, 820 So. 2d 919, 930-31 (Fla. 2002) [FN20] (citations omitted). At the point the photographs were introduced in this case, no pictures of Scott had been introduced and she had not yet testified, and, therefore, the pictures were relevant to show Scott's identity. See Larkins v. State, 655 So. 2d 95, 98 (Fla. 1995). Furthermore, they were relevant to show the location of Scott's wounds. See id. [FN21] Therefore, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the three photographs of the living victim to be introduced.

[FN20] Although *Philmore*, and the cases cited therein, dealt with the photographs of murder victims, the same type of analysis is applicable to photographs of a living victim's injuries. *See*, *e.g.*, *Waggoner v*. *State*, 800 So. 2d 684, 685-86 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) (holding that pictures of the living victim's injuries were relevant to issues in the trial and were admissible).

[FN21] Anderson also argues that the photographs were improperly introduced because the only issue was whether the intentional. shooting was However, this argument is inaccurate. When the pictures were introduced, Anderson had not vet stipulated or testified that he shot Scott. Furthermore, the State had alreadv introduced five pictures of the deceased were taken victim, Young, that at the medical examiner's office. Anderson did not introduction object to the of these photographs and he did not argue, either at trial or on appeal, that these pictures were introduced in error. If the issue at trial had been only whether or not the shootings were intentional, Anderson would have also objected to the pictures of the deceased victim.

Anderson v. State, 863 So. 2d at 184-186 (emphasis added).³⁰ Any claim relating to the photographs of Ms. Scott is procedurally barred because it was raised and addressed on direct appeal. Anderson cannot relitigate that claim in this proceeding.

Insofar as this claim relates to the introduction of photographs of the deceased victim, Anderson has done no more than raise a bare complaint that those photographs were

³⁰ In her testimony, the Medical Examiner used the photographs to describe the victim's wounds. (TT1572-77).

introduced. Anderson has done nothing to explain why the photographs of the deceased victim should or could have been excluded because he cannot do so. Those photographs were relevant (at the very least) to the testimony of the medical examiner -- because that is so, Anderson has failed to carry his burden of proof as to his ineffectiveness claim. As this Court has repeatedly acknowledged:

We have consistently upheld the admission of allegedly gruesome photographs where they were independently relevant or corroborative of other evidence." Czubak *v. State*, 570 So. 2d 925, 928 (Fla. 1990). As we stated in Henderson v. State, 463 So. 2d 196 (1985), "Those whose work products are murdered human beings should expect to be confronted by photographs of their accomplishments." Id. at 200. All ten photographs were deemed relevant either to the crime scene technician's explanation of the location of the victim's body, to the medical examiner's explanation of the findings of the autopsy, or as proof that the victim was strangled and did not die by accidental drowning as Arbelaez claimed. Each of these is clearly a legitimate basis for admitting photographs of a murder victim. See Hertz v. State, 803 So. 2d 629, 641-43 (Fla. 2001) (finding no abuse of discretion where the photos were "relevant to show the position and location of the bodies when they were found "and to "assist[] the crime scene technician in describing the crime scene" and were "probative of the medical examiner's determination the of victims' as to manner the deaths").

Arbelaez v. State, 898 So. 2d 25, 44 (Fla. 2005). Even if the admissibility of the photographs of Anderson's victim had been objected to at trial, that objection would not have been well-

taken because the photographs were relevant to the issues before the jury. Anderson's complaint is, in reality, that the jury was shown the results of his handiwork. That is not a basis for complaint, and this claim is not a basis for relief.

To the extent that Anderson's claim in his brief is a claim that the photographs of the deceased victim should not have been admitted into evidence, that claim was not raised below and is procedurally barred. To the extent that Anderson is attempting to claim ineffectiveness of counsel with respect to these photographs, that claim was not raised below, either, and is barred for the same reasons. In any event, without waiving the procedural bar, Anderson has demonstrated no theory under which the photographs could have been excluded. Under these facts, his claim fails because he can demonstrate neither deficient performance nor prejudice.

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